
 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS  

MEETING 
 

Wednesday, October 21, 2015 
Village Hall Board Room 
40 East Center Avenue 

7:00 P.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 
 

2. Consideration of the August 19 and September 16, 2015 PCZBA Regular Meeting 
Minutes and September 12, 2015 PCZBA Special Workshop Meeting Minutes  
 

3. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors (Public Comment Time) 
The Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals Chair and Board Members allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for 
those individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Board on any matter not listed on the agenda. Each person addressing 
the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals is asked to limit their comments to a maximum of three (3) minutes. 

 

4. A Public Hearing to Consider: (i) an Amendment to the Existing Special Use Permit 
Pursuant to Ordinance #2012-27 and Install Additional Antennae on the Existing 
Monopole and Related Equipment; and (ii) Any Other Zoning Relief as Required to 
Continue the Operation of Cellular Antennae Facilities at 45 E. Center Avenue 
 

5. A Public Hearing to Consider: i) an Amendment to the Text of the Zoning 
Regulations to Establish “Liquor Stores (SIC 5921)” as a Special Use in the Light 
Industry District (L-1); ii) a Special Use Permit to Operate a Liquor Store at 910 
Sherwood Drive, Unit #20; and iii) Any Other Zoning Relief as Required to Permit 
the Operation of a Liquor Store at the Property  
 

6. A Workshop Discussion with the Architectural Board of Review to Consider 
Preliminary Plans for the Proposed Changes to the Lake Bluff Middle School 
Building (31 E. Sheridan Place) 
 

7. A Continued Discussion Regarding the Review of Regulations Concerning the 
Subdivision of Lots and the Village’s Bulk Regulations 
 

8. An Update and Continued Discussion Regarding Updates to the Village’s 
Comprehensive Plan 
 

9. Commissioner’s Report 
 Regular PCZBA Meeting Scheduled for November 18, 2015  

 

10. Staff Report 
 

11. Adjournment 
 
 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who 
plan to attend this meeting and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this 
meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, 
Village Administrator, at (847) 234-0774 or TDD number (847) 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake Bluff to make reasonable 
accommodations. 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MEETING  
 

AUGUST 19, 2015 
 

REVISED DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call 
Chair Kraus called to order the regular meeting of the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board 
of Appeals (PCZBA) of the Village of Lake Bluff on Wednesday, August 19, 2015, at 7:00 p.m. in 
the Village Hall Board Room (40 E. Center Avenue).  

 
 The following members were present: 

 
Members: Sam Badger 

Leslie Bishop  
Mary Collins 
Michael Goldsberry  
Elliot Miller 
Gary Peters 
Steven Kraus, Chair 

 
Also Present: Andrew Fiske, Village Attorney  
  Michael Croak, Buildings Codes Supervisor (BCS) 
 

2. Approval of the June 17, 2015 Meeting Minutes 
Member Goldsberry moved to approve the minutes of the June 17, 2015 meeting with comments 
from Members Bishop and Goldsberry.  Member Miller seconded the motion. The motion passed 
on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

3. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA allocates 15 minutes for those individuals who would like the 
opportunity to address the PCZBA on any matter not listed on the agenda.  
 
There were no requests to address the PCZBA.  
  

4. A Public Hearing to Consider: (i) a Variation from the Maximum Gross Floor Area 
Requirements of Section 10-5-6 of the Village’s Zoning Regulations; and (ii) any Other 
Relief as Required to Convert the Existing Attic into an Office and Recreation Space for the 
Property Located at 403 E. Center Avenue 
Chair Kraus introduced the agenda item and requested an update from Staff. 
 

  BCS Croak reported the Village received a zoning application from Gregory and Barbara Sebolt 
(Petitioners), property owners of 403 E. Center Avenue, to construct two dormers on the rear 
elevation, as well as a stairway to the third story, to allow for the conversion of existing attic space 
to an office and recreation area.  BCS Croak stated pursuant to the current zoning code the lack of 
a staircase, natural light and ventilation meant the existing attic did not meet the criteria to be 
counted as floor area.  The proposed improvements will cause the remodeled attic to meet the 
criteria as floor area, thereby adding 398.25 square feet to the gross floor area of the house.  



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 2

  Chair Kraus administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing regarding 
the matter. 

 
 Chair Kraus reviewed the public hearing process and invited the Petitioner to the podium. 
 
 Gregory Sebolt thanked the PCZBA and provided background information regarding their 

relocation to the area and noted they were attracted to the character and walkability of Lake Bluff.   
Mr. Sebolt stated the plan is to utilize the space within the home as an office and recreation space 
and noted the proposed option would protect the integrity of the house without causing any impact 
to the front of the home.  Mr. Sebolt expressed his appreciation to the PCZBA for their 
consideration. 

 
 Edward Deegan, architect representing the Petitioners, reviewed the current conditions and 

proposed improvements and noted the proposed modifications would not be visible from E. 
Center Avenue.   Mr. Deegan stated there are no proposed changes to the site plan or the first floor 
plan.  He revised the proposed changes for the second floor and noted the stairway will be 
constructed over the existing stairs into the proposed attic space.  Currently, in the existing attic 
space, the only major adjustment in addition to the dormers is the relocation of the mechanical 
room to the rear.  Mr. Deegan showed a photo of the existing condition and a photo illustrating 
proposed dormers on the rear elevation. 

 
 Member Badger asked if there is a basement in the house.  BCS Croak confirmed there is a 

basement and further noted basements do not count toward floor area if it is less than three feet 
from the grade to the top of the first floor. 

  
 Mr. Deegan confirmed the house was constructed with a basement that does not exceed three feet 

from the ground to the top of the first floor.  
 
Member Peters stated the house was constructed with a floor area that exceeds the maximum floor 
area allowed and asked if building out the attic would circumvent the Zoning Code and if it would 
be considered a special privilege. Mr. Deegan stated the request would not be considered a special 
privilege as the space already exists and the changes do not require any structural changes except 
the addition of the dormers to allow ventilation and egress in the space.  
 
Member Goldsberry expressed his opinion the design is a good design since the increase in floor 
area being requested doesn’t increase the bulk of the house. He stated the proposal is in keeping 
with the spirit of the regulations. 
 
Member Miller asked if the basement had been considered as an alternative.  Mr. Sebolt stated the 
basement is used during the winter months as a recreational space for the children. 
 
Member Miller asked if the neighbors located to the south have been contacted.  Mr. Sebolt stated 
they have not contacted the neighbors to the south.  He stated trees are located at the rear of the 
property and the neighbors only see the rear of the house during the winter season.  
 
Member Badger stated the request does not require any additional impervious surface or the 
removal of trees.  He noted the Petitioners are utilizing the existing space and further noted he 
does not have any concern with the concept.  



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 3

 
Member Bishop stated the Petitioners have done their best to ensure the addition is not visible 
from the street.  She inquired if the PCZBA would be doing the wrong thing by approving a house 
that will be over the limits of the bulk ordinance. 
 
Chair Kraus expressed his agreement with Member Bishop and stated the attic should have been 
included in the existing Village regulations.  He stated the plan presented tonight is reasonable and 
will accommodate a growing family.  He stated the PCZBA needs to discuss what bulk means for 
the Village. 
 
Member Collins stated the tradition in Lake Bluff has been that any new construction after the 
adoption of the bulk ordinance is expected to stay within the limits of the bulk ordinance.  We 
have had a lot of petitioners with older homes come to the PCZBA and we have looked at them 
and if it is an older home it usually does not have a basement and if this was an older home we 
would not struggle with the request because we usually try to help people preserve older homes 
and not get demolished.  She stated the struggle is not so much the concept it is just this is a very 
large house and that a 10.9% variation is a large request.  The materials presented in the packet 
were well done and easy to understand.  She expressed her belief the dormers are a bit 
overpowering and expressed a desire that they were not so bulky and massive in appearance.   
Member Collins commented on her personal experience and stated the Village needs more 
consistency on how it addresses these requests and establish one rule for everyone. 
     
Mr. Deegan stated he and his clients reviewed a number of dormer styles and he noted the 
proposed improvement is important to his clients, although they would be happy to make 
adjustments and be open to any comments.   
 
Member Collins expressed her preference to see a revised plan with smaller dormers. 
 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA has three courses of action: (i) defer the matter for another month 
to look at alternatives and have the Petitioners reach out to the property owner to the south, (ii) 
approve as presented; or (iii) deny the request. 
 
Member Miller expressed his agreement with the group and stated the Petitioners are not at fault 
for wanting to improve the useable space in their house.  He expressed his agreement with 
Member Collins regarding the size of the proposed dormers.  He expressed his concern for not 
having input from the neighbors to the south and further expressed his preference for the 
Petitioners to seek feedback on the proposal.  
 
Member Goldsberry expressed his opinion the Petitioners are presenting a fair solution to provide 
additional space in their house.  The proposed dormers on the rear of the house are not impacting 
the streetscape.  Also, Member Goldsberry stated he appreciates when neighbors show support for 
projects and noted none of the neighbors are present.  He noted neighbors tend to come and go and 
what is important to one neighbor may not be important to the other.  He further expressed his 
belief the request is within the spirit of the Code and stated that 10.5% is a large variation, 
however, the additional floor area is not noticeable from the outside.   
 
Member Badger expressed his understanding of the issues being raised by the PCZBA as: (i) 
counting attic space as usable space; and (ii) having dormers that are acceptable.  He stated the 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 4

PCZBA should avoid architectural design matters and address if building out the existing attic 
space is acceptable.  He expressed his support for the project if the improvements are made to the 
rear of the house and don’t affect a majority of the neighbors. 
 
Member Collins stated additional floor area is created with the installation of the dormers.  Mr. 
Deegan stated the floor area of the attic currently exists; however, the interior space of the 
dormers will be less than six feet in height and does not qualify as floor area.  In addition, Mr. 
Deegan noted the dormers satisfy another means of egress from the third story.  
 
Member Miller expressed his support for the improvements if the neighbors support the proposal.  
He noted his preference to change the dormers doesn’t matter if the neighbors are in support of the 
project.  
 
Chair Kraus suggested the Petitioners provide the PCZBA with letters of support from 
surrounding neighbors as well as seek to mitigate the visual impact of the proposed dormers.  
Chair Kraus also suggested the PCZBA revise the Village’s bulk standards to avoid this type of 
situation where useable space, such as a third story attic, is not counted toward floor area during 
the time of construction.   

 
 Member Collins stated the dormer height is being kept at less than six feet so it does not count 

toward the total gross floor area.  There is plenty of volume with the dormers to achieve a higher 
ceiling height, but the dormers have an artificially low ceiling height which decreases the floor 
area calculation.  Member Collins noted, as this is the case, the actual increase is more than 
10.5%.  She noted a technicality in the Code has been used to create a more favorable floor area 
calculation.  A discussion ensued regarding the proposed dormers. 

 
Member Bishop stated she would like more information on why this isn’t a special privilege.  She 
further questioned how many more houses are built like this where the PCZBA would be asked 
for variations based on special privilege.  
 
Mr. Sebolt stated a lot of thought has been given to the design of the dormers to get to this point.  
He requested the PCZBA to make a decision during tonight’s meeting and not delay the process.  
 
Member Peters asked how far away is the neighbor to the south.  Mr. Deegan expressed his 
uncertainly regarding the actual distance between the houses. 
 
Village Attorney Andrew Fiske noted this is an application the PCZBA has the authority to 
approve.  He noted a vote by the PCZBA tonight would be a final decision regarding the matter.  
 
Member Collins stated the PCZBA is very interested in what the neighbors think because it’s 
always good if they are in support; however, at times PCZBA Members must use professional 
judgment. 
 

 As there were no further comments, Chair Kraus closed the public hearing. 
 

Member Miller moved to approve the petition with the condition that support is received from the 
neighbor to the south.  Village Attorney Fiske stated that is an acceptable condition; however, the 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 5

PCZBA cannot compel a neighbor to provide any information. There was no second on the motion 
and the motion failed. 
 
Member Collins moved to defer the matter to allow time to receive feedback from the neighbors 
and allow the Petitioners additional time to review other alternatives.  Member Bishop seconded 
the motion.  The motion failed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (3)  Peters,  Bishop and Collins 
Nays:  (4) Miller, Goldsberry, Badger and Chair Kraus 
Absent: (0) 
 
Member Badger moved to approve the petition as submitted.  Member Bishop seconded the 
motion.   The motion failed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (3)  Goldsberry, Badger and Chair Kraus 
Nays:  (4) Peters, Bishop, Miller and Collins 
Absent: (0) 
 
Village Attorney Fiske stated that there was a 4 to 3 vote not to approve and he recommended a 
resolution of denial.  If the Board wished to continue the consideration of the request, the PCZBA 
would need to make a motion to reconsider.  

 
A discussion regarding feedback from the neighbors ensued. 
 
Member Miller moved to reconsider the vote to deny approval.  Member Badger seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5)  Badger, Bishop, Miller, Goldsberry and Chair Kraus   
Nays:  (2) Collins and Peters 
Absent: (0) 
 
Following additional discussion, Member Collins moved to continue the public hearing to its next 
meeting.  Member Peters seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (7)  Badger, Bishop, Collins, Peters, Miller, Goldsberry and Chair Kraus   
Nays:  (0)  
Absent: (0) 

  
5. A Continued Discussion Regarding the Review of Regulations Concerning the Subdivision of 

Lots and the Village’s Bulk Requirements 
Chair Kraus introduced the item and stated the Village Board expressed a desire for the PCZBA to 
evaluate if the Village’s historic preservation regulations are truly achieving the purpose of 
promoting historic and architectural preservation in the Village.  He stated the Historic 
Preservation Commission (HPC) has suggested extending the demolition delay to 365 days.  Chair 
Kraus stated the PCZBA has been asked to review bulk and massing regulations and the Village’s 
subdivision regulations.  He stated the ABR is reviewing whether to implement architectural 
review requirements for new single-family homes. 
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 6

Chair Kraus stated the purpose of tonight’s discussion is to generate ideas to submit to the Village 
Board for consideration. 
 
Chair Kraus stated it is the inherent right of a property owner to subdivide his or her land in the 
event it satisfies the Village’s standards for subdivision.  Currently the Village does not require a 
public hearing with the PCZBA if the subdivision does not create more than one additional 
buildable lot.  He suggested that the streamlined process of not requiring PCZBA review of 
subdivisions that do not create more than one additional lot be eliminated.  
 
Chair Kraus also suggested the Village may consider limiting the amount of floor area a new 
house that replaces a teardown within a certain percentage of the floor area of the house that was 
replaced. 
 
Member Goldsberry expressed interest in Chair Kraus’ suggestions and asked what tools the 
PCZBA has to help accomplish its objective of preserving Lake Bluff’s character, which is a goal 
of the Comprehensive Plan.  
 
Chair Kraus inquired if the Village can require properties be publicly marketed before demolition. 
 
Member Badger expressed his support for listing properties on the open market to solicit the 
highest price; however, he expressed doubt if the Village would be able to require owners to 
publically market their homes.  He noted the east side of Lake Bluff is different and has a diverse 
set of styles and lot sizes, which may make it difficult to achieve the right look and feel.  He 
expressed his support for a review process for teardowns and noted this may deter some people 
from preserving homes. 
 
Member Goldsberry stated the Village’s Comprehensive Plan encourages rehabilitation and the 
ability to control development in an orderly manner compatible with neighboring properties.  He 
expressed his feeling this is not happening.  He further stated preservation is an important element 
and thinks it important to identify tools needed to encourage preservation.  He also stated 
prospective buyers should know upfront what type of property they are purchasing in the Village.   
 
Chair Kraus suggested the Village consider a zoning overlay district in certain areas that would 
increase the minimum lot size required in order to deter subdividing lots.  
 
Member Miller suggested the PCZBA start with considering changes to garage size regulations.   
 
A discussion followed. 
 
Chair Kraus stated the same could apply to porches as they were not part of the original Lake 
Bluff streetscape.  He stated the proposal in 2000 was to provide an incentive to encourage 
additions versus teardowns. 
 
Member Bishop expressed concern for what is really meant by preserving Lake Bluff.  She stated 
the Village is really the people and we should consider what the community wants. 
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 7

Member Collins stated the other matter to consider is property values and eliminating smaller lot 
sizes will not be popular in the Village as this would decrease property value.  Member Collins 
stated there should be a balance between Village character and property value.   
 
A discussion ensued. 
 
Member Bishop noted her previous comments are more about tearing down older homes and 
encouraging preservation than changing subdivision regulations.  
 
Member Badger asked if there were any proactive tools available to the Village.  BCS Croak 
stated Highland Park adopted the lakefront overlay zone and ordinance in 2000, which doubled 
the required lot area for subdivisions that create new buildable lots.    
 
Member Bishop inquired of amending the zoning regulations regarding setback restrictions for 
teardown and new homes.   
 
Chair Kraus stated there have been a couple of tools discussed, such as changing side yard 
setbacks, creating overlay zoning districts, and the concept of tearing a house down and the bulk 
of the new house cannot exceed a certain percentage of what existed before.    
 
Chair Kraus inquired of the Board how comfortable it is in reviewing subdivisions, determining 
appropriate bulk and mass and to slow down the building process to ensure the Village has 
appropriate control and sense of what the redevelopment of a particular parcel should look like.  
He expressed his preference to see some modern style houses pop up and some sense of a street 
wall and how to maintain the continuity of character with new construction. 
 
Member Bishop asked how long it would take to change the regulations.  Chair Kraus explained 
the process.  
 
Member Collins stated that the question of teardowns is a struggle everywhere and inquired if 
there were any existing ideas to solve the problem.  She suggested the PCZBA identify regulations 
in the Zoning Code that may allow inappropriately sized homes to be built in specific areas. 
 
Chair Kraus stated the review process should be completed as soon as possible and suggested each 
Commissioner provide Staff with their ideas before the September PCZBA meeting.  The 
concepts will then be shared with the Village Board.  

 
Member Bishop stated we have been looking at the older historic area of Lake Bluff and asked if 
the PCZBA should also review the Terrace areas.  She recommended the PCZBA consider the 
entire Village.  A discussion regarding subdivisions followed. 
 
Member Peters inquired of any issues if the Village were to change the subdivision or zoning 
regulations that would prevent the further subdivision of a lot that can currently be subdivided.   
 
Village Attorney Fiske stated if an application to legally subdivide a lot was submitted prior to 
any changes, the subdivision would proceed under existing regulations. Once any changes to the 
subdivision become effective the new regulations would apply.   
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – August 19, 2015 

 

 8

In response to a comment from Member Collins, Village Attorney Fiske stated tax parcels and 
zoning lots are different.  There can be a property located on multiple tax parcels, but it is a single 
zoning lot.  In order to build two homes a property owner would have to subdivide it into two lots.   
 
A discussion ensued regarding multiple buildable lots. 
 
Chair Kraus expressed interest in the Village reviewing houses that replace teardowns to ensure it 
is consistent with the streetscape. 
 
Chair Kraus stated that property owned by the Village, Park District or School District has 
underlying zoning of residential districts (as shown on the zoning map) which means if one of 
those entities should sell property it would revert to the underlying zoning without going through a 
rezoning process.  Chair Kraus recommended the creation of a public use or institutional zoning 
district and process to allow the community an opportunity to comment on any potential land use 
changes resulting from an institutional use.  
 

6. An Update and Continued Discussion Regarding Updates to the Village’s Comprehensive 
Plan 
It was the consensus of the PCZBA to continue this matter to the next meeting.  
 

7. Commissioner’s Report  
Chair Kraus stated the next regular PCZBA meeting will be September 16, 2015. 
 

8. Staff’s Report 
There was no Staff report. 
 

9. Adjournment 
As there was no further business to come before the PCZBA, Member Goldsberry moved to 
adjourn the meeting.  Member Collins seconded the motion.  The motion was approved on a 
unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 9:29 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Mike Croak      Brandon J. Stanick 
Building Codes Supervisor    Asst. to the Village Administrator  



  VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

SPECIAL MEETING  
 

SEPTEMBER 12, 2015 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call 
Chair Kraus called to order a special meeting of the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of 
Appeals (PCZBA) of the Village of Lake Bluff on Saturday, September 12, 2015, at 9:05 a.m. in 
the Village Hall Conference Room (40 E. Center Avenue).  

 
 The following members were present: 

 
Members: Leslie Bishop  

Mary Collins 
Elliot Miller 
Gary Peters 
Steven Kraus, Chair 

 
Absent:  Sam Badger 

Michael Goldsberry  
 
Also Present: Brandon J. Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA) 
 

2. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA allocates 15 minutes for those individuals who would like the 
opportunity to address the PCZBA on any matter not listed on the agenda.  
 
There were no requests to address the PCZBA.  
  

3. A Continued Workshop Discussion Regarding the Review of Regulations Concerning the 
Subdivision of Lots and the Village’s Bulk Regulations 
Chair Kraus introduced the item and noted the purpose of the PCZBA discussion is to begin to 
formulate concepts and ideas to address the subdivision of lots and the bulk of home in the Village 
to forward to the Village Board for discussion purposes.  
 
At the request of Chair Kraus, A to VA Stanick provided an update regarding the progress made 
by the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) and the Architectural Board of Review (ABR).  
He noted the HPC would like to lengthen the demolition delay period from a maximum of 120 
days to 365 days and allow the Village Board to continue the delay indefinitely (for structures at 
least 50 years old demolishing at least 50% of the gross floor area). He also noted the HPC’s 
desire to require an applicant to address several questions regarding the purpose of demolishing a 
house; this would be required to qualify as a complete building permit application.  Additionally, 
he noted the ABR has discussed, and not reached a consensus to date, concerning the review of 
any new single-family residential construction, or a review of new single-family construction 
resulting from a teardown.  This review would be in addition to the ABR’s current responsibility 
of reviewing commercial construction.  
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Special Meeting Minutes – September 12, 2015 

 

 2

A general discussion regarding preferences for additional process and review for residential 
redevelopment ensued.   
 
Chair Kraus reviewed the comments submitted by the Members prior to the meeting. 
 
The PCZBA discussed the following: 
 

1. Definitions for “bulk” and “subdivision”; 
2. Consider requiring PCZBA review and recommendation to Village Board of all proposed 

subdivisions (any action that is moving a property line); 
3. Consider requiring an advisory board review site plans and building elevations of a new 

house at a public hearing prior to the consideration of a subdivision request;  
4. Consider allowing the HPC and ABR (at their discretion) to hold a public hearing on any 

proposed subdivision to review the proposal from their areas of expertise;  
5. Consider creating standards for subdivisions that maintain scale and character of an 

existing neighborhood; 
6. Consider requiring advisory board review of all site plans and building elevations of any 

new residence proposed for a vacant lot; 
7. Consider requiring the PCZBA, HPC and ABR (at their discretion) to hold a public hearing 

on the infill housing request from their areas of expertise and forward a recommendation to 
the Village Board; 

8. Prior to issuing a demolition permit for any existing house, consider requiring the site plan 
and buildings elevations for a new house be reviewed by an advisory board.  Property 
owner must have Village approval to build the new house prior to receiving a demolition 
permit;  

9. Consider allowing the HPC to conduct demolition reviews for the demolition of homes that 
are less than 50 years in age.  Consider allowing the ABR to review at a public hearing the 
site plan and building elevations of the new house; 

10. Consider limiting the size of new houses that are built following a teardown.  Consider 
determining size of new house by: floor area allowed per the Zoning District, no larger 
than the size of the teardown, 1.xx times the size of the teardown, etc.; 

11. Consider creating new zoning classification for governmental/institutional uses such as 
Village Hall, Public Works facility, Park District Rec Center, Schools, Churches, etc.  
Currently, these types of facilities are located in residential districts which is not reflective 
of the activities (or intensity) of institutional uses;  

12. Consider encouraging rehabilitation of existing structures through zoning bonuses; 
13. Consider developing regulations limiting bulk and encouraging historical/architectural 

continuity with surrounding properties;  
14. Consider limiting the allowable floor area of homes on “deep” lots based on the amount of 

street frontage of the lot.  Refer to 709 Birch as an example;  
15. Given the variety of lot sizes in the R-4 District, and the mix of large and small houses that 

result, consider reducing the floor area allowed on larger lots; 
16. Reconsider the amount of floor area bonus given for front porches and rear yard garages; 
17. Consider larger setbacks on small lots; 
18. Consider adding restrictions on the percentage of surface land that is covered on small lots; 
19. Consider counting all attic space as floor area regardless of ceiling height; 
20. Consider excluding ravine slopes from the lot area calculation and only use the table land 

to determine lot area; and 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Special Meeting Minutes – September 12, 2015 

 

 3

21. Consider creating a universal parking lot standard(s) to use in all Zoning Districts. 
 
Following its discussion, the PCZBA requested a summary of the discussion points be shared 
during the regular meeting on September 16, 2015.  
 

4. Commissioner’s Report  
Chair Kraus noted the next meeting is scheduled for September 16, 2015.  
 

5. Adjournment 
As there was no further business to come before the PCZBA, the group adjourned at 11:45 a.m.  
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Brandon J. Stanick 
Assistant to the Village Administrator 



  VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

MEETING  
 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2015 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call 
Chair Kraus called to order the regular meeting of the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board 
of Appeals (PCZBA) of the Village of Lake Bluff on Wednesday, September 16, 2015, at 7:00 
p.m. in the Village Hall Board Room (40 E. Center Avenue).  

 
 The following members were present: 

 
Members: Sam Badger 

Leslie Bishop  
Mary Collins 
Michael Goldsberry  
Elliot Miller 
Gary Peters 
Steven Kraus, Chair 

 
Also Present: Andrew Fiske, Village Attorney  
  Brandon J. Stanick, Asst. to the Village Administrator (A to VA) 
 

2. Approval of the August 19, 2015 Meeting Minutes 
Following a brief discussion, it was the consensus of the PCZBA to defer consideration of the 
August 19, 2015 draft minutes to the next meeting.  
 

3. Non-Agenda Items and Visitors 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA allocates 15 minutes for those individuals who would like the 
opportunity to address the PCZBA on any matter not listed on the agenda.  
 
There were no requests to address the PCZBA.  
  

4. Continuation of a Public Hearing to Consider: (i) a Variation from the Maximum Gross 
Floor Area Regulations of Section 10-5-6 of the Village’s Zoning Regulations; and (ii) any 
Other Relief as Required to Convert the Existing Attic into an Office and Recreation Space 
for the Property Located at 403 E. Center Avenue 
Chair Kraus introduced the agenda item and requested an update from Staff. 
 

  A to VA Stanick stated this is a continued discussion regarding the zoning application from 
Gregory and Barbara Sebolt (Petitioners), property owners of 403 E. Center Avenue, to allow for 
conversion of existing attic space to an office and recreation area, as well as the construction of a 
stairway.  The proposed improvements add 398.25 square feet to the gross floor area of the house.  
The PCZBA discussed the matter at its meeting on August 19th and moved to defer the matter to 
allow the Petitioner additional time to review other alternatives and receive feedback from the 
neighbors.  He noted feedback from the neighbors was provided through an email as well as 
transmitted in this evening’s packet. 

 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – September 16, 2015 

 

 2

  Chair Kraus stated the discussion last month considered whether to grant a variation for the build 
out of an attic where if the attic was included in the gross floor area calculation when the house 
was built the footprint would have been smaller.  The situation has arisen where a new owner 
would like to build out the attic space and exceed the floor area allowed.  This is something the 
group has struggled with for some time and discussed over the past months.  

 
 Chair Kraus invited the Petitioner to the podium. 
 

Mr. Gregory Sebolt stated at the August meeting the PCZBA had expressed concerns regarding 
the neighbors support of the proposed dormers at the rear of the house, specifically the neighbor to 
the south.  He stated the neighbors have reviewed the proposed plans and have no issues with the 
request.  He asked the PCZBA to consider approving the requested zoning relief.  
 
Chair Kraus requested comments from the PCZBA. 
 
Member Badger stated he liked the concept of utilizing existing space rather than building 
additional space that would be noticeable from the exterior of the house.  He expressed his support 
for this type of zoning variance.  
 
Member Peters stated concerns were addressed by the PCZBA and the Petitioners reached out to 
the neighbors and obtained their support.  The PCZBA now has to address at some point whether 
this issue needs addressed.  Member Peters stated he is no longer opposed to the petition.  
 
Member Collins stated she feels confident there is no hardship because there is a large basement 
that can be used to satisfy the need for space.  She stated she does worry about the precedence that 
would be set should the PCZBA approve this request because the house is currently over bulk.  
There are too many houses that maximize the allowable bulk and noted she does not think the 
PCZBA should be setting this precedent as it could be considered a special privilege. 
 
Member Miller expressed his agreement with Member Peters and stated he has no objection to the 
request as it will not increase the footprint of the house.  He stated the fault is with the existing 
zoning regulations.  
 
Chair Kraus stated the Zoning Code does not adequately address the issue and this type of request 
should not come back to the PCZBA, but should be planned into the home. 
 
Member Miller moved to approve the 10.59% variation from the R-4 District maximum floor area 
regulations to allow 420.21 sq. ft. of additional floor area for the conversion of an existing attic to 
an office and recreation space.  Member Goldsberry seconded the motion.   The motion passed on 
the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6)  Badger, Bishop, Goldsberry, Miller, Peters and Chair Kraus 
Nays:  (1) Collins  
Absent: (0)  

  
5. A Public Hearing to Consider a Request by Lake Effect Holdings, LLC for an Amendment 

to an Existing Special Use Permit to Operate a Brewery Located at 16 E. Scranton Avenue 
Chair Kraus introduced the agenda item and requested an update from Staff. 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – September 16, 2015 

 

 3

  Member Goldsberry recused himself and took a seat in the audience. 
   
  A to VA Stanick reported the Village received a zoning application from Lake Effect Holdings, 

LLC to operate a brewery/brew pub at 16 E. Scranton Avenue. Currently the Lake Brewing 
Company operates at this location pursuant to a Special Use Permit (SUP); however, the 
establishment will soon change ownership and will require a new SUP under the name of the new 
owner.  The present owners are comfortable with allowing the property owner to take control of 
the SUP which would make it specific to the space and not the owner.  A to VA Stanick stated the 
Petitioner notes that employee parking will remain the same; however, there is insufficient detail 
regarding the manner by which employee parking will be addressed.  It is recommended the 
PCZBA consider a condition requiring the business owner to obtain an adequate number of 
parking permits (for parking at the Train Station) for the employees at this location.  A to VA 
Stanick reported on the existing authorized hours of operation compared to new proposed hours of 
operation. 
 
A to VA Stanick further stated no traffic demands or safety hazards are foreseen with this type of 
use.  The Petitioner advises deliveries will not change from the current method; however, there is 
insufficient detail regarding the method by which the establishment currently receives deliveries 
and/or distributes product from the establishment.  It is recommended the PCZBA consider a 
condition requiring that deliveries to and distribution from the establishment be made from the 
rear of the building and during early morning hours to limit the impact on traffic in the CBD.  

 
Village Attorney Fiske commented on an example of an SUP specific to restaurant use and noted 
each time ownership changes the new owners must apply for a new SUP.  The proposed action 
would tie the use to the space and not the owner.  
 
Chair Kraus administered the oath to those in attendance and opened the public hearing regarding 
the matter. 
 
Mr. Robert Douglass, Managing Member of Lake Effect Holdings, LLC, explained a similar 
streamlined process that was done with the Lake Forest Bank and Trust space at the corner of E. 
Scranton Ave. and Sheridan Rd. He noted this structure will provide some ease for the tenants 
without having to come back to the Village.  Mr. Douglass stated he would consult the business 
owners regarding the number of parking permits needed.  He stated the spaces at the rear of the 
building have traditionally used from public parking after 5:00 p.m.   
 
In response to a comment from the PCZBA,  Mr. Dave Burns, Co-Owner of the Lake Bluff 
Brewing Company, clarified the hours of operation for the establishment and noted their intent to 
keep the hours of operation the same.  He stated their desire is to help support the vitality in the 
downtown and conform to the existing parking regulations.  He stated they are willing to purchase 
parking permits as the establishment normally has three employees working at any one time. 
 
Chair Kraus stated he does not have any problem with the request.  He suggested the crowded 
outdoor dining area can make it difficult for pedestrians to use the sidewalk.  Chair Kraus 
encouraged them to rethink the outdoor dining configuration to better manage sidewalk use 
without interfering with public access which is a violation of the SUP.   
 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – September 16, 2015 

 

 4

Member Collins concurred with Chair Kraus regarding the public access around the outdoor 
dining area. 
 
Mr. Burns expressed his understanding with sidewalk access around the outdoor dining area. He 
expressed his opinion it is a benefit to the Lake Bluff brand to have a sense of vitality. Mr. Burns 
stated special events are held on Friday and Saturday nights to minimize impacts of big crowds 
and noted there is adequate staffing for large events such as block parties to manage the crowds.  
The majority of the sidewalk is on the adjacent side of the public right-of-way so it makes it 
challenging to set up anything structural to enforce patrons to remain in the designated area.  He 
stated the situation is definitely on their radar and he is open to having a continued conversation to 
create a workable solution.  Mr. Burns expressed his support for using parklets to create more 
public space and improve access along the sidewalk. 
 
Member Bishop stated she has witnessed some customers extending the space by moving tables 
around.  Mr. Burns stated the tables are within their designated store frontage.   
  
Member Miller asked if the train station parking lot could be used on the weekend as this would 
allow more parking spaces.  Member Miller stated there have been many delivery vehicles parked 
in front of Wisma and Mavery’s creating a difficult situation when driving along E. Scranton 
Avenue.  He questioned if deliveries should occur in the rear of the building.  Mr. Douglass stated 
there are authorized loading zones on Scranton and Walnut to accommodate.  
 
Following a brief discussion, the PCZBA expressed their desire for the Village to address and 
enhance the walkability in the downtown, as well as enforce the use of loading zones. 
 
Members Collins and Peters expressed their support for the new proposed hours of operation: 
 

Authorized Hours: New Proposed Hours: 
Monday through Thursday, 12:00 pm to 
11:00 pm 

Monday through Thursday, 11:00 am to 
11:00 pm 

Friday and Saturday, 12:00 pm to 12:00 am Friday and Saturday, 11:00 am to 12:00 am 
Sunday, 12:00 pm to 10:00 pm Sunday, 11:00 am to 11:00 pm 

 
Member Collins moved to recommended the Village Board approve the request for a SUP to 
operate a brewery/brew pub at 16 E. Scranton Avenue with the condition: i) the business owner 
obtain an adequate number of parking permits (for parking at the Train Station) for the employees 
at this location, ii) authorize the new proposed hours of operation and iii) require deliveries to and 
distribution from the establishment be made from the rear of the building and during early 
morning hours to limit the impact on traffic in the CBD.   Member Bishop seconded the motion.  
The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6)  Bishop, Collins, Miller, Peters, Badger and Chair Kraus 
Nays:  (0) 
Abstain: (0)  
 
Member Goldsberry returned to his position at the dais. 
 

6. A Continued Discussion Regarding the Review of Regulations Concerning the Subdivision of 
Lots and the Village’s Bulk Requirements 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – September 16, 2015 

 

 5

Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA has been asked to review bulk and massing regulations and the 
Village’s subdivision regulations.  He noted he would like to move this matter along to the Village 
Board for consideration.  He advised the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) has proposed 
increasing the demolition delay to 365 days and the Architectural Board of Review (ABR) has not 
completed their review, but are looking at requiring residential design review.   
 
Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA held a workshop meeting on September 12th and provided an 
update on the concepts discussed during the workshop.   
 
Chair Kraus stated while he served on the HPC, it would consider extending delays for the 
demolition of older homes without knowing the plans for redevelopment.  The PCZBA should 
consider creating a delay which would allow residents to go through a site plan review process. 
 
Chair Kraus stated there was a consensus during the workshop that any and all subdivisions 
should come before the PCZBA for a recommendation. 
 
Member Miller stated the PCZBA should work on what would be allowed on a lot and not 
appearance which can be addressed by the ABR.  
 
Member Goldsberry stated the PCZBA has been following the Comprehensive Plan and noted he 
does not feel the PCZBA is doing anything new than what it is charged with.  Member Goldsberry 
inquired how the PCZBA can bring the Lake Bluff brand into this conversation.  These are all 
good tools that allow us to do what is needed without creating undue burdens for homeowners.   

 
Chair Kraus stated the HPC demolition delay is for homes at least 50 years old and there have 
been discussions regarding amending the review process for buildings less than 50 years old.  He 
stated during the discussion he suggested a provision to determine if a new house should be 
proportional to the house that is torn down.  The current trend in the Village has the builders 
building to the maximum allowable size for the lot and not in context of what was initially there or 
the existing streetscape. Chair Kraus inquired to what degree is the Village interested in having 
dialogue regarding managing streetscapes. 
 
Chair Kraus stated new zoning classifications were also discussed because currently the Village, 
Lake Bluff Park District and the School District are not zoned for their particular use.  Each entity 
is zoned with the underlying residential zoning.  He also noted the Church properties could be 
subdivided into several buildable lots without Village review.   
 
Member Goldsberry expressed his concern for larger basements that may be built in the future as 
this could affect the mature trees and canopy in the Village.  He expressed his opinion the Village 
is not doing enough to protect the mature canopy.  Chair Kraus advised of the Village Tree 
Preservation Ordinance and stated there are currently no regulations that address building too 
close to trees.  
 
Member Badger expressed his agreement with Member Goldsberry.  He stated he likes the 
concept of the institutional zoning district for the various public agencies, but expressed concern 
for some of the other concepts because of their impact on property rights.  
Member Bishop expressed her agreement with Member Miller that focus should be on what is 
causing large homes to be built and focus on the regulations that manage the bulk.  There are 



Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals  
Meeting Minutes – September 16, 2015 

 

 6

currently regulations now that need addressed to accomplish the PCZBA’s goal of minimizing 
bulk.  
 
Member Collins expressed her support for “right-sizing” the bulk ordinance and new homes 
should be built to an acceptable scale.   
 
Members Collins and Miller expressed support for reviewing the regulation concerning attic space 
as gross floor area.  A discussion followed and it was the consensus of the PCZBA to review this 
provision.  
 
Chair Kraus stated he would like to get something to the Village Board, ABR, and HPC so that 
they can see what we are doing and the direction of the PCZBA’s conversations.  He stated the 
attic space and ravine should be added to the list as priority.  
 
Member Badger expressed his agreement with Members Miller and Bishop regarding a review of 
the regulations that currently exist.  He noted his preference to keep review processes as 
standardized as possible.   
 
Following a discussion it was the consensus of the PCZBA to finalize the list at the next meeting 
and forward to the Village Board for discussion.  
 

7. An Update and Continued Discussion Regarding Updates to the Village’s Comprehensive 
Plan 
Chair Kraus stated he would like to schedule a workshop to review the documents of the former 
Plan Commission.  Chair Kraus stated the PCZBA needs to finalize and submit a recommendation 
to the Village Board on the Business Park and asked it be added to next October PCZBA meeting.  
 

8. Commissioner’s Report  
Chair Kraus stated the next regular PCZBA meeting will be October 21, 2015.  Chair Kraus 
recommended rescheduling the November meeting approximately one week sooner so as not to 
conflict with the Holiday.  It was the consensus of the PCZBA to reschedule the November 
meeting. 
 

9. Staff’s Report 
A to VA Stanick provided an update on the Stonebridge Development. 
 

10. Adjournment 
As there was no further business to come before the PCZBA, Member Miller moved to adjourn 
the meeting.  Member Goldsberry seconded the motion.  The motion was approved on a 
unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 8:55 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Brandon J. Stanick 
Assistant to the Village Administrator 



































































































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
Memorandum 
 

 

TO:    Chair Kraus and Members of the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
  Chair Hunter and Members of the Architectural Board of Review 
 

FROM:  Brandon J. Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator 
  Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor  
 

DATE:  October 16, 2015 
 

SUBJECT:    Agenda Item #6 – Workshop - Lake Bluff Middle School (31 E. Sheridan Pl.)  
 

 

Background and Summary 
 

On October 1, 2015 School District #65 Officials (Petitioner) and representatives from Wight & Company 
(Petitioner’s project design consultant) met with Village Staff to review the proposed renovations to the 
Lake Bluff Middle School located at 31 E. Sheridan Place.  The renovations include a new fine arts 
addition (4,300 sq. ft.), a new classroom addition (5,400 sq. ft.) providing for five new classrooms, a new 
storage building (1,200 sq. ft.) placed near the westerly property line, as well as a new parking/circulation 
lot along E. Sheridan Place.  
 
As you may know the Middle School property currently operates pursuant to a special use permit (Ord. 
#2008-07 as amended) that also grants the following zoning relief: (i) a 278.50% variation from the 
maximum gross floor area regulations (for the Middle School and East School); and (ii) a 120% variation 
from the maximum fence height regulations (for a sound attenuation wall).   
 
The intent of this workshop meeting is to give the Petitioner the opportunity to review the general concept 
for the Middle School renovations with the PCZBA and the Architectural Board of Review (ABR) prior to 
a formal public hearing (scheduled on November 18th) with the PCZBA.  The project is not required to 
undergo formal site plan review with the ABR because the Lake Bluff Zoning Code does not have a 
requirement for ABR review in the R-4 zoning district. However, the Petitioner has expressed interest in 
participating in an “advisory” review with the ABR prior to the Village Board’s consideration of the 
petition.  
 
Recommendation 
 

It is recommended the PCZBA and the ABR conduct an informal workshop and ask questions of the 
Petitioner in preparation for a public hearing with the PCZBA on November 18, 2015.  
  
Attachments 
 

 Preliminary Plans Proposed for the Lake Bluff Middle School.  
 
If you should have any questions concerning the information provided in this memorandum please feel free 
to contact Asst. to the Village Administrator Brandon Stanick (847-283-6889) or Building Codes 
Supervisor Mike Croak (847-283-6885). 














	Agenda Item 6.pdf
	2015-1014 PCZBA-ABR Workshop Set.pdf
	COVER PAGE HS
	SURVEY HS
	2015-1013 Site Plan HS
	C2.00 SITE PLAN HS
	2015-1013 Main level plan HS
	2015-1013 Lower level plan HS



